
Department of Planning  
& Community Development 

Franklin County Planning Commission 
Agenda 

February 10, 2026 
I. Call to Order

II. Roll Call

III. Approval of Minutes from December 9, 2025, Meeting

IV. Public Hearing: APPLICATION for ZONING MAP AMENDMENT – Application of
ABoone Development, Inc., Applicant, and Willard Investment Properties, LLC, and
Willard Construction Smith Mountain Lake, LLC, Owners, requesting a zoning map
amendment on an approximate 82.70 acres of property zoned PCD, Planned Commercial
Development District. These parcels are located at 12800 Booker T. Washington
Highway in the Gills Creek Election District of Franklin County and further identified by
real estate records as Tax Map/Parcel #0300000105 and 0300005228. The purpose of this
zoning map amendment request to amend the conceptual plan to allow for 103 +/- single
family detached homes as well as five (5) commercial pads designated for business
purposes. This property has a future land use designation of Residential Mixed Use and
Village Mixed Use and is part of the Westlake-Hales Ford Designated Growth Area
(REZO-01-26-18468).

a. Staff Presentation (Tina Franklin)
b. Applicant Presentation
c. Citizen Comment

V. Public Hearing: APPLICATION for SPECIAL USE PERMIT – Application of
ABoone Development, Inc., Applicant, and Willard Investment Properties, LLC, and
Willard Construction Smith Mountain Lake, LLC, Owners, requesting a special use
permit on an approximate 82.70 acres of property zoned PCD, Planned Commercial
Development District. These parcels are located at 12800 Booker T. Washington
Highway in the Gills Creek Election District of Franklin County and further identified by
real estate records as Tax Map/Parcel #0300000105 and 0300005228. The purpose of this
special use permit request is to allow for 103 +/- dwellings, single family detached. This
property has a future land use designation of Residential Mixed Use and Village Mixed
Use and is part of the Westlake-Hales Ford Designated Growth Area (SPEC-01-26-
18469).

a. Staff Presentation (Tina Franklin)



b. Applicant Presentation
c. Citizen Comment

VI. Public Hearing: APPLICATION for SPECIAL USE PERMIT – Application of
ABoone Development, Inc., Applicant, and Willard Investment Properties, LLC, and
Willard Construction Smith Mountain Lake, LLC, Owners, requesting a special use
permit on an approximate 82.70 acres of property zoned PCD, Planned Commercial
Development District. These parcels are located at 12800 Booker T. Washington
Highway in the Gills Creek Election District of Franklin County and further identified by
real estate records as Tax Map/Parcel #0300000105 and 0300005228. The purpose of this
special use permit request is to allow for private street(s) or road(s). This property has a
future land use designation of Residential Mixed Use and Village Mixed Use and is part
of the Westlake-Hales Ford Designated Growth Area (SPEC-01-26-18470).

a. Staff Presentation (Tina Franklin)
b. Applicant Presentation
c. Citizen Comment

VII. Public Hearing: APPLICATION for COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AMENDMENT –
Application of Franklin County Board of Supervisors to amend the 2045 Franklin County
Comprehensive Plan Chapter 9: Utilities to reflect changes to the map entitled “Map
#9.5: Power Transmission Lines” in order to address critical electrical infrastructure
needs and to support planned economic development within the County (A-01-26-001).

a. Staff Presentation (Tina Franklin)
b. Applicant Presentation
c. Citizen Comment

VIII. Public Hearing: APPLICATION for SPECIAL USE PERMIT – Application of
County of Franklin, Applicants and Owners, requesting a special use permit on an
approximate 481.29 acres of property zoned REP, Regional Enterprise Park District.
These parcels are located in the Boone and Blackwater Election Districts of Franklin
County and further identified by real estate records as Tax Map/Parcel #0370005400,
0360020400, 0360020500, and 0440000500. The purpose of this special use permit
request is to allow for Utility Services, Major electric substation and associated facilities
and transmission lines. This property has a future land use designation of Industrial
Mixed Use and is part of the 220-North Corridor Designated Growth Area (SPEC-01-26-
18471).

a. Staff Presentation (Tina Franklin)



b. Applicant Presentation 
c. Citizen Comment 

 
IX. Citizen Comment 
 
X. Adjourn        
 
*** The Planning Commission’s next site visits are scheduled for March 4, 2026. 





 
 

 Department of Planning 

& Community Development 
 
A meeting of the Franklin County Planning Commission was held on Tuesday, 
December 9, 2025, in the Board Room located at the Franklin County 
Government Center. 
 
THOSE PRESENT: 
Angie McGhee- Boone District  
Victor Evans- Union Hall District 
Sherrie Mitchell- Chair, Snow Creek District 
David Pendleton- Vice Chair, Blackwater District 
C.W. Doss- Blue Ridge District 
David Clements- Rocky Mount District 
 
OTHERS PRESENT: 
Tina Franklin- Planner II 
Samantha Conner- Clerk 
Chris Dadak- County Attorney (via phone) 
Lisa Cooper- Planning Director 
 
THOSE ABSENT: 
Ron Jefferson- Gills Creek District 

 
Chairwoman Mitchell called the meeting to order at 6:00pm. 
 
The first order of business was the approval of the November 10th minutes. The 
commissioners agreed to approve the minutes as written. 
 
Chairwoman Mitchell introduced the next item on the agenda: APPLICATION for 
SPECIAL USE PERMIT – Application of Michael and Elizabeth Fair, Applicants and 
Owners, requesting a special use permit on an approximate 0.68 acres of property 
zoned A-1, Agricultural District. The parcel is located at 234 Waterwood Drive in the 
Gills Creek Election District of Franklin County and further identified by real estate 
records as Tax Map/Parcel #0320309800. The purpose of this special use permit 
request is to allow for short-term tourist rental of dwelling. This property has a future 
land use designation of Low Density Residential – County and Lake Influence Area 
(0.5 M Buffer) (SPEC-10-25-18425). 
Ms. Franklin presented the staff report. She stated that this is the only dwelling 
located on the parcel and where the proposed short-term rental will take place. 



Department of Planning 

& Community Development 
 

2 
 

The property is located on a secondary state-maintained road and has a driveway 
that would provide ample parking for the short-term rental. The water is supplied by 
Park Place Water Works, and the sewer supply is a septic system. 
 
Ms. Franklin stated that the closest residence is approximately forty-three (43’) feet 
from the proposed short-term rental located at 234 Waterwood Drive. Both sides of 
234 Waterwood Drive are well vegetated to provide screening, especially in the 
summertime during the short-term rental season. 
 
Ms. Franklin stated that according to County records, the dwelling is a one-story 
single-family residence constructed in 1992 and consists of three (3) bedrooms, 
three (3) full bathrooms and has a total living area of approximately 3,036 square 
feet. The septic permit was issued by the Virginia Department of Health in 1991 for 
a three (3) bedroom home. There is one (1) septic tank located at the front of the 
property and one (1) septic tank located in the middle of the property along the 
left side property line. Ms. Franklin stated that the short-term rental can be rented 
to a maximum of six (6) adults. 
 
Ms. Franklin explained that Mr. and Mrs. Fair indicated they plan to eventually 
retire to this home. They stated the house has been rented long-term since they 
owned it, and they have had to rent an Airbnb to visit SML due to the long-term 
renter in their place. Mr. and Mrs. Fair indicated the short-term rental would 
provide them with the ability to spend some time at the lake. Mr. and Mrs. Fair also 
stated they would have a local property management handling the rental 
process, occupancy limits and noise restrictions will be posted and adhered to. 
The property manager will be Taylor O’Dell, 540-488-4122, 
taylorml519@icloud.com. 
 
Ms. Franklin stated that staff have received two (2) phone calls: one (1) inquiring 
about the application and one (1) in opposition. Staff received three (3) emails in 
opposition. 
 
Ms. Franklin showed the commissioners four (4) maps on the screen: a vicinity, an 
aerial, a zoning, and a future land use map. She also presented an image of the 
concept plan and pictures taken at her site visit. 
 



Department of Planning 

& Community Development 
 

3 
 

Ms. Franklin stated that the proposed short-term rental is located on a lot 
consisting of +/-0.68 acres, and the closest single-family dwelling is forty-three (43’) 
feet. During the main short-term rental season, normally May through September, 
both sides of the subject property will be well vegetated to provide screening. The 
property is surrounded by single-family dwellings, and the surrounding properties 
are close in lot sizes. 
 
Ms. Franklin added that the property has a driveway that leads to the dwelling off 
Waterwood Drive which would provide ample parking. The traffic generated by 
this short-term rental would be similar to what is generated by a single-family 
dwelling with full-time residents. The noise of the rental should not be more than 
normally expected in a residential neighborhood. 
 
Ms. Franklin explained that The Comprehensive Plan designations for this property 
are Low Density Residential - County and Lake Influence Area. Low density 
residential represents suburban patterns of development and housing consists of 
single-family dwellings on a variety of lot sizes. Lake Influence area consists of 
residential uses, but the increase in tourism around the lake and the need for 
accommodation for these guests, the County will see an increase in STRs in this 
future land use designation. 
 
Ms. Franklin added that some of the primary land use types for this designation are 
lodging and tourism. There needs to be a balance in traditional subdivisions 
between residents and transients’ occupants that allows STRs to be located in 
subdivisions around the lake where tourists want to rent and property owners want 
to rent their homes. 
 
Ms. Franklin stated that staff conclude that there will be minimal impacts to the 
surrounding area. The character of the A-1 zoning district will not be changed. The 
STR will be in harmony with the purpose and intent of this chapter and with the 
uses permitted by right in the A-1 zoning district. 
 
Ms. Franklin stated that staff recommends that the Planning Commission 
recommend approval of the special use permit with the following six (6) 
conditions: 

1. The special use permit authorizing the short-term rental dwelling on Tax 



Department of Planning 

& Community Development 
 

4 
 

Parcel # 0320309800 shall only apply to the existing dwelling on the property. 
No additional dwellings on the property shall be used for a short-term rental 
unless this permit is revised by the Board of Supervisors after review and 
recommendation of the Planning Commission. 

2. The owner shall always comply with the supplementary regulations for short-
term rentals found in Section 25-138 and Section 5.5-72 of the Franklin 
County Code. 

3. The owner shall provide and maintain proof of liability insurance covering 
injury to a guest on the property of no less than $1,000,000. 

4. The owner shall register the short-term rental use and shall have the property 
inspected for compliance with County Code. No short-term rental of the 
property shall be authorized until these inspections take place, and the 
property is found to be compliant with the applicable County Code. 

5. The owner shall supply the Planning Department with the name and phone 
number of a property manager or contact person. The Planning 
Department shall be notified any time this information is changed. Staff will 
notify adjoining property owners of this information and notify them of any 
changes to this information. 

6. The applicant/owner shall retain existing vegetation on both sides of 
property to allow for screening due to the closeness of the dwellings. 
 

Ms. Franklin asked if the commissioners had any questions for staff. There were no 
questions. 
 
Chairwoman Mitchell invited the applicant to the podium to present. Mike Fair 
presented a PowerPoint showing images of the property. He stated that he and his 
wife, Lisa, were looking for a lakefront property in the County as they have been 
visitors to the area for quite some time. They plan to retire in the next few years, but 
they will rent the property until then. He explained that the cars would be parked 
off the street and practically invisible to the neighbors. 
 
The Planning Commission did not have any questions for the applicant. 
 
Chairwoman Mitchell opened up the podium for citizen comment. 
Mr. Bob Piazza signed up to speak, but he declined. 
 



Department of Planning 

& Community Development 
 

5 
 

Mr. Wayne Meyers stated that he was a next-door neighbor to the Fairs. He stated 
that they are good people, though he is against the application. He presented the 
Planning Commission with a map of the neighborhood. Mr. Meyers stated that he 
managed a short-term rental for 3.5 years and struggled with people bringing their 
friends along and making the property hard to manage. He stated that the Fairs 
rented their house for a while and, while they did the best they could, still dealt with 
loud, unmanaged renters. He explained there are no fences to keep animals away, 
and he is only 46 feet away. He added that the elderly ladies in the neighborhood 
should be able to walk their dogs in safety. Mr. Meyers also mentioned the shared 
drain field and is worried that it may become overloaded. 
 
Mr. David Henkins stated that he resides at 232 Waterwood Drive on the other side 
of Wayne Meyers, so he shares a border with Mike and Lisa Fair. He stated that he 
purchased his property five years ago and was attracted to Franklin County due to 
their strict short-term rental regulations compared to Bedford County. He stated that 
Waterwood is a dead-end street with year-round, full-time residents who would like 
a quiet neighborhood. He is concerned with changing the dynamic when there are 
constant strangers cycling in and out. Mr. Henkins stated that rules are not always 
followed and are not easy to enforce. Mr. Henkins confirmed that the Fairs have 
had previous tenants that were disruptive. He is also concerned about water safety 
for children in the neighborhood. 
 
Ms. Betty Stubbs stated that she lives two houses down from the applicant. She 
stated she is an elderly widow who lives alone with no relatives around. She and 
another elderly citizen go out to walk their dogs with no police presence. Ms. Stubbs 
stated that she wished the Planning Commission would consider protecting elderly 
people in the neighborhood. 
 
Chairwoman Mitchell asked if anyone else in the audience would like to speak. 
Hearing none and seeing none, she closed the opportunity. 
 
Chairwoman Mitchell asked if the Planning Commission had any discussion. 
 
Mr. Evans asked if the Fairs had any experience with a property management team. 
Mr. Mike Fair and Ms. Lisa Fair approached the podium and explained that they do 
have a property management team. They have previously worked with Mr. Wayne 



Department of Planning 

& Community Development 
 

6 
 

Wright, but he only does long-term rental management. Mr. Fair stated that Taylor 
O’Dell would be their short-term rental property manager. 
 
Mr. Evans asked for the Fairs to discuss the previous experiences with tenants that 
the neighbors discussed during citizen comment. Ms. Lisa Fair stated that Taylor 
O’Dell seems to have a lot of regulations for renters and performs site visits. Ms. 
O’Dell has been in business for five years and is an Airbnb super host. 
 
Mr. Evans motioned to approve the special use permit application request stating, 
“I find that the use will not be of substantial detriment to adjacent properties, that 
the character of the zoning district will not be changed thereby, and that such use 
will be in harmony with the uses permitted by right in the zoning district, and with 
the public health, safety, and general welfare to the community. Therefore, I move 
to recommend approval of the applicant’s request for a special use permit to allow 
for short-term tourist rental of dwelling with the six (6) conditions recommended by 
staff.” 
 
Mr. Pendleton seconded the motion. 
 
A roll call vote was conducted. The motion to approve the special use permit 
request with the six (6) conditions recommended by staff was approved; 6-0-1-0 
voting was as follows: 

AYES: Doss, Clements, McGhee, Evans, Pendleton, Mitchell 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: Jefferson 
ABSTAIN: None 
 

Chairwoman Mitchell announced that the Board of Supervisors would hear this case 
on January 20, 2026. 
 
Chairwoman Mitchell announced the next item on the agenda: APPLICATION for 
SPECIAL USE PERMIT – Application of Dan Kovarik, Applicant, and RDK Property, LLC, 
Owners, requesting a special use permit on an approximate 1.00 acres of property 
zoned A-1, Agricultural District. The parcel is located at 108 Pennsylvania Avenue in 
the Union Hall Election District of Franklin County and further identified by real estate 
records as Tax Map/Parcel #0512005800. The purpose of this special use permit 



Department of Planning 

& Community Development 
 

7 
 

request is to allow for short-term tourist rental of dwelling. This property has a future 
land use designation of Low Density Residential – County and Lake Influence Area 
(0.5 M Buffer) (SPEC-10-25-18426). 
 
Ms. Franklin presented the staff report. She stated that this is the only dwelling 
located on the parcel and where the short-term rental is proposed to take place.    
The property is located on a private road, which will be taken into the state’s 
secondary system. The driveway is circular with two entrances on Pennsylvania 
Avenue, and the driveway has ample parking. She added that the water supply is 
a well, and the sewer supply is a septic system. Ms. Franklin stated that the closest 
residence is approximately thirty-five (35’) feet from the proposed short-term rental 
located at 108 Pennsylvania Avenue. 
 
Ms. Franklin stated that according to County records, the dwelling is a one-story 
single-family residence with the Certificate of Occupancy issued in 2025 and 
consists of five (5) bedrooms, five (5) full bathrooms, and has a total living area of 
approximately 4,444 square feet. In 2024, the OSE Construction permit was issued 
by the Virginia Department of Health for a five (5) bedroom home. 
 
Ms. Franklin stated that the septic tank and drain field are located in the rear yard 
of the property. The short-term rental can be rented for a maximum of ten (10) 
adults. 
 
Ms. Franklin added that Dan Kovarik, applicant and owner of RDK Property LLC, 
stated in the letter of application that he is requesting the special use permit in 
part because this property was purchased as a 1031 Exchange and IRS 
Regulations require that the property be rented. Mr. Kovarik stated he will be hiring 
a property management company to ensure that renters are respectful of the 
property and the neighborhood, and that he has installed security cameras to be 
able to monitor renter activity. The property manager will be Fulp Properties, 336-
423-4720. 
 
Ms. Franklin stated that staff have received seven (7) phone calls and seven (7) 
emails in opposition to the application. In addition, staff have received one (1) 
phone call in support. 
 



Department of Planning 

& Community Development 
 

8 
 

Ms. Franklin displayed four (4) maps: a vicinity, an aerial, a zoning, and a future land 
use map. She also displayed the conceptual plan and pictures taken during her site 
visit on the screen. 
 
Ms. Franklin stated that the proposed short-term rental is located on a lot consisting 
of 1.00 acre, and the closest single-family dwelling is approximately thirty-five (35’) 
feet. Due to the proximity of the homes, a landscape buffer is one of the conditions 
of the special use permit to screen the two (2) properties. The property has two (2) 
single-family dwellings on each side. The surrounding properties are close in lot sizes. 
She added that the property has a driveway that leads to the dwelling off 
Pennsylvania Avenue which would provide ample parking. 
 
Ms. Franklin explained that the traffic generated by this short-term rental would be 
similar to what is generated by a single-family dwelling with full-time residents. The 
community area at the end of the cul de sac could possibly generate more traffic 
than this short-term rental when in use for events. Ms. Franklin added that the noise 
of the rental should not be more than normally expected in a residential 
neighborhood. The noise in the community area could be more than the STR in the 
neighborhood. 
 
Ms. Franklin stated that The Comprehensive Plan designations for this property are 
Low Density Residential - County and Lake Influence Area. Low density residential 
represents suburban patterns of development and housing consists of single-family 
dwellings on a variety of lot sizes. Lake Influence area consists of residential uses, 
but the increase in tourism around the lake and the need for accommodation for 
these guests, the County will see an increase in STRs in this future land use 
designation. 
 
Ms. Franklin explained that some of the primary land use types for this designation 
are lodging and tourism. There needs to be a balance in traditional subdivisions 
between residents and transients’ occupants that allows STRs to be located in 
subdivisions around the lake. Staff conclude there will be minimal impacts to the 
surrounding area. The character of the A-1 zoning district will not be changed. The 
STR will be in harmony with the purpose and intent of this chapter and with the 
uses permitted by right in the A-1 zoning district. 
 



Department of Planning 

& Community Development 
 

9 
 

Ms. Franklin stated that staff recommends that the Planning Commission 
recommend approval of the special use permit with the following six (6) conditions: 

1. The special use permit authorizing the short-term rental dwelling on Tax Parcel 
# 0512005800 shall only apply to the existing dwelling on the property. No 
additional dwellings on the property shall be used for a short-term rental 
unless this permit is revised by the Board of Supervisors after review and 
recommendation of the Planning Commission. 

2. The owner shall always comply with the supplementary regulations for short-
term rentals found in Section 25-138 and Section 5.5-72 of the Franklin County 
Code. 

3. The owner shall provide and maintain proof of liability insurance covering 
injury to a guest on the property of no less than $1,000,000. 

4. The owner shall register the short-term rental use and shall have the property 
inspected for compliance with County Code. No short-term rental of the 
property shall be authorized until these inspections take place, and the 
property is found to be compliant with the applicable County Code. 

5. The owner shall supply the Planning Department with the name and phone 
number of a property manager or contact person. The Planning Department 
shall be notified any time this information is changed. Staff will notify adjoining 
property owners of this information and notify them of any changes to this 
information. 

6. The owner shall plant a landscape buffer between the subject property and 
78      Pennsylvania Avenue from front edge of the home to the 800’ contour 
(along property line). The landscape planting will be approved by the 
Planning Office prior to the approval of the short-term rental annual 
registration. 
 

Ms. Franklin asked if the commissioners had any questions for staff. 
 
Mr. Pendleton asked about the 1031 exchange. Chairwoman Mitchell stated that 
they would wait and ask the applicant. 
 
Chairwoman Mitchell invited the applicant to the podium to present. 
Mr. Dan Kovarik stated that he and his wife, Ruth, bought the property this past June. 
He stated that he checked the restricted convenance, and it stated that short-term 
rentals were permitted. Mr. Kovarik explained that due to the 1031 Exchange, he 



Department of Planning 

& Community Development 
 

10 
 

must rent the property to defer tax on the property sold and satisfy the IRS. Mr. 
Kovarik stated that he plans to abide by all the conditions and is committed to 
maintaining the peace in the neighborhood. He is hiring a property manager and 
installing security cameras to monitor the activity of his renters. He plans to screen 
renters and only rent to five-star tenants. Mr. Kovarik explained that this rental would 
not have a negative impact on the neighbors. Mr. Kovarik stated that this is not how 
he would like to be introduced to the neighbors, but the covenants are clear. 
 
There were no questions for the applicant. 
 
Chairwoman Mitchell opened the opportunity for citizen comment. 
 
Ms. Denise Mach stated that her and her husband, Gary, have been full-time 
residents since February 2020. They chose to move to Franklin County due to its 
peaceful nature and limited number of short-term rentals. She stated that they 
rented a property in Bedford County and observed terrible behavior from short-term 
rental tenants. They are concerned about the safety of their grandkids. She stated 
that due to misinformation from Frontier Land Development, she thought that the 
subdivision was already zoned R-1. She added that the average lot size in Kennedy 
Shores is less than one acre with many being irregularly shaped. Ms. Mach stated 
that there are less than thirty feet between lots. Fences are prohibited according to 
their HOA. She stated that a petition was circulated that describes their concerns. 
Over 80 residents signed the petition in opposition to short-term rentals in Franklin 
County. She continued by stating that in August 2023, Bedford County was forced 
to develop an annual short-term rental regulation plan due to the number of 
concerns. 
 
Ms. Mach presented the commissioners with the petition she referenced. 
 
Ms. Francie Chiado stated that she was reading from an opposition letter submitted 
to Tina Franklin on December 3rd. She stated that she was drawn to the beauty and 
peace of Smith Mountain Lake and has lived full-time in her residence there since 
December 2023. She is concerned about the short-term rental’s effect on the health 
of the lake as short-term rentals could lead to overcrowded waters which can result 
in algal blooms and harm aquatic ecosystems. Ms. Chiado explained that 
temporary guests are not invested in the safety of the community. Safety of kids and 



Department of Planning 

& Community Development 
 

11 
 

pets and protected water quality is a reasonable request from citizens to the 
County. She stated that there would be an increase in foot traffic, and complaints 
about loud parties are common. Ms. Chiado stated that this short-term rental would 
be disruptive of neighborhood character. Many citizens in Kennedy Shores invested 
in their properties due to short-term rental prohibition. Ms. Chiado added that there 
may be personal and property damage due to inexperienced watercraft 
operators. 
 
Ms. Sylvia Holy stated that she and her husband, Jerry, live in Union Hall and have 
been residents of Kennedy Shores since 2017. Safety was their top priority when 
moving to the area. Ms. Holy states that homes are for residential use only according 
to their restricted covenants. She stated concerns about fire, theft, accidents, noise, 
and the burden on their septic system. Ms. Holy explained that other subdivisions 
have high privacy fences at other locations where short-term rentals take place. 
She explained that traffic would also increase due to laundry and cleaning services 
coming and going from the property. She added that most houses are close 
together, and fences are prohibited. She stated that trees and shrubs cannot be 
added in order to keep from screening the lake view. Ms. Holy added that last year 
a house was illegally rented and was advertised for 15 people; many problems 
developed as a result. She stated that a short-term rental would make the whole 
area expensive and undevelopable. Ms. Holy added that houses that are long-term 
rented typically do not have the same issues as short-term rentals. 
 
Mr. Ed Chiado stated that he and his wife, Francie, are full-time residents in Kennedy 
Shores. He explained that he submitted a letter to the Planning Commission last 
week as he is concerned about the investment made to but in Franklin County 
instead of Bedford County, which has a high number of short-term rentals and 
negative impacts from them. Mr. Chiado explained that the Kennedy Shores 
developer led them to believe that the subdivision would be rezoned to R-1, but the 
developer did not follow up. He stated that short-term rentals are commercial 
businesses operating in residential neighborhoods. He stated that the property was 
intended to be low-density residential according to page three of the staff report, 
which means the property should be predominantly residential. He stated that 
balance and regulations are needed to adequately limit adverse neighborhood 
impacts and protect County residents. Mr. Chiado stated that full-time Kennedy 
Shores residents and neighboring communities are against the short-term rental. 



Department of Planning 

& Community Development 
 

12 
 

 
Mr. Mark McGee stated that he lives at 79 Pennsylvania Avenue, next door to the 
Kovariks. They share a property line. In 2018, he purchased the lot and built the 
house and became a full-time resident in 2022. He stated that the properties are 35 
feet apart with no buffer down the entire property line. He would like to maintain 
the view of the lake and privacy. Mr. McGee stated that he would be fully exposed 
to rental activity. He explained that because there is no short-term rental activity 
currently, there would be a big change in their neighborhood dynamic. He is 
concerned about property management when violations occur. He asked what 
the County responsibilities were and who would be responsible locally for the rental. 
Mr. McGee stated that the restricted covenants allow short-term rentals, but it also 
states that the subdivision is for residential use only. He stated that the owner must 
comply with HOA regulations. Mr. McGee stated that there is to be no landscaping 
on lots without prior approval. Mr. McGee stated that Mr. Kovarik has 
communicated directly that the property is only to be rented for two years to meet 
the requirements of the 1031 exchange. He asked if it would be possible for Mr. 
Kovarik to rent for 30 days or longer or not less than two weeks. He also asked if it 
would be possible to get a special use permit that expires if Kovarik sells his property. 
 
Mr. Arnold stated that he is a resident of 110 Pennsylvania Avenue. He lives adjacent 
to Mr. Kovarik’s property and is opposed to the application. He stated that in the 
past he has had people block his driveway and changing the zoning would only 
make the problem worse. He added that he used to be a resident of Fairfax County 
and experienced troubles with cars blocking his driveway at night. He states that 
they were cars from the rental apartment across the street. Mr. Arnold stated that 
he called the Fairfax County police to get the vehicles towed and was told that it 
was a public street, and they could not tow the vehicles. Mr. Arnold stated that he 
was left to take care of the issue himself. He stated that he had to go to the rental 
apartment across the street and find the person whose vehicle it was and get them 
to move. The person whose vehicle it was threatened with physical abuse to Mr. 
Arnold as Mr. Arnold was older than he was. He stated that he considers this rental 
a life-threatening issue and is opposed to the short-term rental. Mr. Arnold stated 
that it would lead to a violent confrontation if he has to get someone to move out 
of his driveway. 
 



Department of Planning 

& Community Development 
 

13 
 

Ms. Sheryl Scott stated that she and her husband, Bob, live in Hyannis Point. She 
stated that she is in support of the application as she has rented property for more 
than twenty years in Franklin and Bedford Counties. She stated that she has 
personally never seen the problems mentioned during the hearing and is surprised 
to learn of them. Ms. Scott stated that the restricted covenants allowed short-term 
rentals, and it was to her understanding that the HOA had to have a 66% vote to 
deter a short-term rental from occurring. She explained that the applicant is acting 
within his property rights and following the Franklin County protocol. Ms. Scott stated 
that the County provides strong tools for managing short-term rentals, even stronger 
than an HOA. She added that there are limits on occupancy and parking 
requirements along with County-level enforcement authority. She stated that there 
are some neighbors who opposed, but no data supports it. She added that she has 
spoken with local property management companies, and none saw significant 
crime related to rentals. Ms. Scott stated that she does believe that Mr. Kovarik will 
follow the rules. She stated that it will increase property values. Ms. Scott presented 
a letter of support to the commissioners. 
 
Mr. Charlie White stated that he lives in Highland Lake Section 1 that borders 
Kennedy Shores. He explained that Frontier Land Development sued him. He stated 
that the restricted covenants do not have anything against short-term rentals as the 
only time they are mentioned is in closing. Mr. White explained that Frontier Land 
Development misled some people in Kennedy Shores. He stated that he has been 
managing a rental in Highland Lake Section 1 since before zoning and only rented 
it to people he knew. He explained that someone had a party with over 40 people 
and had a concert. He stated that he had to apologize to the neighbors the next 
day as short-term rentals invite this activity in. He added that they had 6 personal 
watercrafts and boats, but it were only supposed to have one watercraft. Mr. White 
stated that he tried his best to manage the property, but it still happens. 
 
Mr. Gary Mach stated that he lives in Kennedy Shores. He stated he would like to 
point out discrepancies that Mr. Chiado was trying to point out before his time 
ended. Mr. Mach stated that there is only one entry to the driveway, and he does 
not think it will be ample parking for 10 adults. He added that he has seen a lot of 
bad activity from renters such as unsafe boating. Mr. Mach stated that the County 
should look at penalties and ways to enforce the rules since renters often consider 
violations the cost of doing business. 



Department of Planning 

& Community Development 
 

14 
 

 
Mr. Bob Piazza stated that he and his wife, Laura, moved to Belle Isle Drive off Dillards 
Hill in 2016. He retired in Franklin County and has seen the area deteriorate. He 
stated that the structure of the roads has gone downhill and points out that the tar 
and chips on his road is not great for nice cars. Mr. Piazza stated that if the permit 
were approved, it would create more traffic. He stated that 100 contractor trucks 
drive down Belle Isle Drive, and it creates a nightmare. He asked what County 
citizens are getting with the extra tax money coming in. Mr. Piazza stated that there 
are no lines on the roads, though he realizes that VDOT would be the contact for 
this. He stated that short-term rentals would increase traffic. 
 
Mr. Brian Peters stated that he lives at Hyannis Point and became full-time residents 
in October. He is concerned about negative impacts the short-term rental may 
have. He explained that some people purchased their property with the ability to 
rent in mind, and he feels for those whose deal was not made clear. Mr. Peters 
hopes to protect his family and the peaceful, quiet neighborhood. He asked the 
Planning Commission to recommend denial of the application and stated that a 
follow-up to this application should be a request to rezone to R-1. 
 
Chairwoman Mitchell asked if there was anyone else in the audience that would 
like to speak. Hearing none and seeing none, she closed the opportunity. 
 
The applicant declined to present a rebuttal. 
 
Chairwoman Mitchell asked the other commissioners if there was any discussion. 
 
Mr. Evans asked staff about short-term rental complaints. Ms. Franklin explained that 
the County can enforce their regulations for short-term rentals, but any noise 
complaints should go to the Sheriff’s Office. 
 
Mr. Evans asked if the Planning Office was a “one stop shop” for short-term rental 
regulation. Ms. Franklin stated that the code enforcement officer inspects 
properties. 
Mr. Evans asked what is done if there is a violation. Ms. Franklin stated that the 
County can determine what they see upon inspection, send a courtesy letter, and 
work with the citizens to bring their property into compliance provided that the 



Department of Planning 

& Community Development 
 

15 
 

property owner contacts the Planning Office. If they do not contact the Planning 
Office, County staff follows through with violation letters and enforcement letters to 
take legal action. Ms. Franklin stated that special use permits follow the property, 
and short-term rental registrations are good for one (1) year. 
 
Mr. Evans asked if registration renewal would be impacted if there were any 
complaints. Ms. Franklin explained that Planning staff would take the permit back 
to the Board of Supervisors to potentially revoke the special use permit for short-term 
rental. 
 
Mr. Evans asked Mr. Kovarik to explain his vetting process for potential tenants. Mr. 
Kovarik stated that he has engaged a property manager who has experience. The 
property manager has managed large properties at Lake Norman, but not Smith 
Mountain Lake, so his property manager is very familiar with managing this type of 
property. Mr. Kovarik explained that when someone rents on VRBO or Airbnb, hosts 
have an opportunity to rate tenants. He stated that he will only accept tenants with 
a five-star rating. He has installed cameras and will monitor where cars are parked 
and count the number of people there. Mr. Kovarik stated that he plans to be 
diligent in following the rules including those of the HOA. 
 
Mr. Evans asked if the cameras recorded audio. Mr. Kovarik stated that they do 
record audio, and he can talk and listen through the cameras. Mr. Evans clarified 
that Mr. Kovarik will have a recording. Mr. Kovarik confirmed that he could access 
the recording. 
 
Chairwoman Mitchell asked Mr. Kovarik if he lives in North Carolina. Mr. Kovarik 
stated that he lives in Greensboro, North Carolina. Chairwoman Mitchell asked if Mr. 
Kovarik’s property manager was located in Greensboro. Mr. Kovarik confirmed. Mr. 
Kovarik stated that if there were issues either the property manager or he would 
come to the property in person. 
 
Mr. Evans stated that it is clear that the HOA allows short-term rentals, and that 
policy is not a new addition. Mr. Kovarik confirmed that he specifically read through 
the HOA regulations to ensure short-term rentals were allowed before purchasing 
the property. 
 



Department of Planning 

& Community Development 
 

16 
 

Mr. Evans made a motion to approve the special use permit stating, “I find that the 
use will not be of substantial detriment to adjacent properties, that the character 
of the zoning district will not be changed thereby, and that such use will be in 
harmony with the uses permitted by right in the zoning district, and with the public 
health, safety, and general welfare to the community. Therefore, I move to 
recommend approval of the applicant’s request for a special use permit to allow 
for short-term tourist rental of dwelling with the six (6) conditions recommended by 
staff.” 
 
Ms. McGhee seconded the motion. 
 
A roll call vote was conducted. The motion to approve the special use permit was 
approved; 5-1-1-0 voting was as follows: 

AYES: Doss, McGhee, Evans, Pendleton, Mitchell 
NAYES: Clements 
ABSENT: Jefferson 
ABSTAIN: None 
 

Chairwoman Mitchell announced that the BOS would hear this case on January 20, 
2026. 
 
Chairwoman Mitchell announced the next item on the agenda: APPLICATION for 
SPECIAL USE PERMIT – Application of Leonard Capital, LLC, Applicants and Owners, 
requesting a special use permit on an approximate 4.08 acres of property zoned A-
1, Agricultural District. The parcel is located at 500 Blue Bend Road in the Rocky 
Mount Election District of Franklin County and further identified by real estate 
records as Tax Map/Parcel #0550400400. The purpose of this special use permit 
request is to allow for short-term tourist rental of dwelling. This property has a future 
land use designation of Rural Area – County (SPEC-10-25-18434). 
 
Ms. Franklin presented the staff report. She stated that this is the only dwelling 
located on the parcel and where the short-term rental is proposed to take place.  
The property is located on a secondary state-maintained road and has a driveway 
that would provide ample parking. The water supply is a well, and the sewer supply 
is a septic system. The closest residence is approximately 247 feet from the proposed 
short-term rental located at 500 Blue Bend Road. 



Department of Planning 

& Community Development 
 

17 
 

 
Ms. Franklin stated that according to County records, the dwelling is a one-story 
single-family residence with the Certificate of Occupancy issued in October of 
2025 and consists of three (3) bedrooms, two (2) full bathrooms with a total living 
area of approximately 1,338 square feet. The septic permit was issued by the 
Virginia Department of Health in 2024 for a three (3) bedroom home. The septic 
tank and drain field are located on the right side of the home. The short-term 
rental can be rented for a maximum of six (6) adults. 
 
Ms. Franklin stated that Mr. Perry Leonard, owner, stated in the letter of application 
that he and his wife built this home to be their retirement home but are not quite 
able to retire and move at this time. Mr. Leonard also stated in his letter that he will 
have a local individual managing the short-term rental, Jennifer Chapman of 
Evolve Vacation Rental Company. He stated that she and her team live nearby, 
and they are familiar with the rules and customs of the area. 
 
Ms. Franklin stated that staff have received two (2) phone calls and one (1) email 
inquiring about the application. Staff were also contacted by one (1) couple in 
opposition to the application. Staff have received two (2) emails in opposition. 
 
Ms. Franklin displayed four (4) maps on the screen: a vicinity map, an aerial map, 
a zoning map, and a future land use map. She also showed the commissioners the 
conceptual plan and pictures she took on her site visit. 
 
Ms. Franklin explained that the proposed short-term rental is located on a lot 
consisting of +/-4.08 acres, and the closest single-family dwelling is approximately 
247 feet. The property is well vegetated with mature trees on both sides of the 
home to offer screening between the proposed short-term rental and the 
adjoining properties. 
 
Ms. Franklin stated that there is a single-family dwelling to the right side of the 
proposed short-term rental as well as across Blue Bend Road along with a vacant 
lot that appears to be farmland/pastureland, and a single-family dwelling to the 
left side on a large lot, and the dwelling is approximately 1700 feet away.  The 
remaining area from the subject property is residential properties being close in lot 
sizes or larger of the proposed STR. 



Department of Planning 

& Community Development 
 

18 
 

 
Ms. Franklin stated that the property has a driveway that leads to the dwelling off 
Blue Bend Road which would provide ample parking. The traffic generated by this 
short-term rental would be similar to what is generated by a single-family dwelling 
that is not rented. The noise of the rental should not be more than normally 
expected in a rural residential neighborhood. 
 
Ms. Franklin explained that the Comprehensive Plan designations for this property 
are Rural Area - County. Rural Area – County represents rural patterns of 
development, farmland and housing consisting of single-family dwellings on a 
variety of lots sizes. This particular area on Blue Bend Road could support a STR and 
have minimal impact on the surrounding area due to the size of the lots and being 
located in a wooded area. The STR should not generate a lot of traffic to this rural 
community and disruption to surrounding neighbors should be no more than a 
normal residential area. 
 
Ms. Franklin stated that staff conclude there will be minimal impacts to the 
surrounding area due to the location, the area having large lots that are wooded 
to protect the STR being disruptive to adjacent property owners. The character of 
the A-1 zoning district will not be changed. The STR will be in harmony with the 
purpose and intent of this chapter and with the uses permitted by right in the A-1 
zoning district. 
 
Ms. Franklin stated that staff recommends that the Planning Commission 
recommend approval of the special use permit with the following five (5) 
conditions: 

1. The special use permit authorizing the short-term rental dwelling on Tax 
Parcel # 0550400400 shall only apply to the existing dwelling on the property. 
No additional dwellings on the property shall be used for a short-term rental 
unless this permit is revised by the Board of Supervisors after review and 
recommendation of the Planning Commission. 

2. The owner shall always comply with the supplementary regulations for short-
term rentals found in Section 25-138 and Section 5.5-72 of the Franklin 
County Code. 

3. The owner shall provide and maintain proof of liability insurance covering 
injury to a guest on the property of no less than $1,000,000. 



Department of Planning 

& Community Development 
 

19 
 

4. The owner shall register the short-term rental use and shall have the property 
inspected for compliance with County Code. No short-term rental of the 
property shall be authorized until these inspections take place, and the 
property is found to be compliant with the applicable County Code. 

5. The owner shall supply the Planning Department with the name and phone 
number of a property manager or contact person. The Planning 
Department shall be notified any time this information is changed. Staff will 
notify adjoining property owners of this information and notify them of any 
changes to this information. 

 
Ms. Franklin asked if the commissioners had any questions for her. There were no 
questions. 
 
Chairwoman Mitchell invited the applicant up to the podium to present. 
 
Mr. Perry Leonard stated that he and his wife purchased the property to have 
retirement property, but they are not yet prepared to give up their jobs in northern 
Virginia, and their kids are still in college. He stated that he is a veteran and would 
like to find a nice, peaceful location to enjoy his retirement; he found that in 
Blackwater Hollow. Mr. Leonard stated that he plans to abide by the regulations 
and customs of the area. He explained that he has hired a reputable vacation 
rental company and has liability insurance. He explained that the company is 
experienced at screening tenants. He added that Ms. Jennifer Chapman lives near 
the property, and their housekeeper lives only ten minutes away. Mr. Leonard 
shared that Mr. Chapman is the handyman of the management team and is the 
enforcer of rules. Mr. Leonard stated that Mr. Chapman is eager to enforce noise 
complaints and house rules/policies. Mr. Leonard stated that smoking and parties 
are not allowed. He added that quiet hours are to be abided by. 
 
Chairwoman Mitchell opened the opportunity for citizen comment. 
 
Mr. Parker Greer stated that he is opposed to the application. He stated that Blue 
Bend Road was originally a gravel road until it was designated as a rural route. He 
explained that it has only recently been surface treated and is full of sharp and tight 
corners. He recalled times when he had to completely pull off the road to allow 



Department of Planning 

& Community Development 
 

20 
 

other cars to pass. Mr. Greer stated that there are no shoulders in several places. 
There is a sharp drop off into a side creek, and the area is prone to flooding. 
 
Mr. James White stated that he lives in Blackwater Hollow subdivision close to the 
Leonards’ property. He explained that the subdivision has a stringent number of 
covenants, but the most concerning covenant is the one that prohibits business or 
commercial activity in Blackwater Hollow. He stated that he does not feel that they 
should change the residential use only covenant. Mr. White added that new 
neighbors are great but not retail business. He agreed with Mr. Greer that the roads 
are too small. He is worried that many renters that have not driven the roads before 
will not be able to handle the roads. 
 
Mr. Mark Greer stated that he is Parker’s father. He shared that there are places 
travelling down the road that you cannot see. He explained that it is a narrow road, 
and many people must pull off. Mr. Greer stated that he has no problem with long 
term renters, but a short-term rental will disrupt the neighborhood. 
 
Mr. Steve Lewis stated that he owns 52 acres adjacent to Mr. Leonard and 25 acres 
across the road from Mr. Leonard’s house. He stated that the Planning Commission 
should look at the house and the location as it slopes down into the Blackwater River 
at a 45-degree angle. He explained that the back of the house is built facing the 
river. Mr. Lewis explained that it is a dangerous backyard and not a lot of parking. 
He explained that the road has hills, knolls, and blind corners and is only 15-17 feet 
wide. He stated that there are speed limits, but unfamiliar drivers may drive residents 
off the road into the ditch not knowing where they are going. Mr. Lewis stated that 
he has lived there for the past 44 years and has come close to accidents on that 
road. He stated that it may be a good house for a single-family dwelling, but he is 
opposed to short-term rentals. He opposes all short-term rentals in agricultural areas 
where the roads are dangerous. 
 
Ms. Nancy White stated that she lives on Blue Bend Road. She explained that the 
road is a flood zone with no guard rails. She stated that if someone had to veer off 
the road, there is a good chance of them going down a 3–4-foot decline. She 
stated that drivers must back out of the road if another car is met. Ms. White stated 
that she purchased her acreage four years ago and mentioned the subdivision 
covenants. She stated that the covenants state that each lot will be for a residential 



Department of Planning 

& Community Development 
 

21 
 

dwelling with no businesses running out of the house. She stated that there should 
be no commercial activity and the outside of the houses must meet certain 
specifications according to their restricted covenants. Ms. White stated that the 
decline if steep and can see concrete showing on the outside of the Leonards’ 
house, which is against the covenants. She stated she is concerned about parties 
and trash. She added that there is not enough parking for six people. Ms. White 
stated that the homes in their neighborhood were built for older people to retire to. 
Chairwoman Mitchell asked if anyone else in the audience would like to speak. 
Hearing none and seeing none, she closed the opportunity. 
 
Mr. Leonard declined the opportunity to present a rebuttal. 
 
Chairwoman Mitchell asked if the commissioners had any discussion. Mr. Clements 
stated he was ready to make a motion. There was no other discussion. 
 
Mr. Clements motioned to approve the special use permit stating, “I find that the 
use will not be of substantial detriment to adjacent properties, that the character 
of the zoning district will not be changed thereby, and that such use will be in 
harmony with the uses permitted by right in the zoning district, and with the public 
health, safety, and general welfare to the community. Therefore, I move to 
recommend approval of the applicant’s request for a special use permit to allow 
for short-term tourist rental of dwelling with the five (5) conditions recommended by 
staff.” 
 
Mr. Pendleton seconded the motion. 
 
A roll call vote was conducted. The motion to approve the special use permit was 
approved; 6-0-1-0 voting was as follows: 
 

AYES: Doss, Clements, McGhee, Evans, Pendleton, Mitchell 
NAYES: None 
ABSENT: Jefferson 
ABSTAIN: None 
 

Chairwoman Mitchell announced that the Board of Supervisors would hear this case 
on January 20, 2026. 



Department of Planning 

& Community Development 
 

22 
 

 
Chairwoman Mitchell opened the podium for open floor citizen comment. 
Mr. Ed Chiado stated that with Franklin County allowing short-term rentals, the 
County has an obligation to residents and needs to take primary responsibility to 
ensure issues are documented and resolved. Mr. Chiado suggested that, on the 
County short-term rental website, the complaint link should be updated to allow 
more options for selecting types of complaints. He explained that it is impossible for 
absentee homeowners to respond to violations. He added that the County may 
want to consider creating a documented policy on the website to track and 
manage complaints. Mr. Chiado stated that the County may want to consider how 
complaints are weighed in terms of severity, as some complaints may be viewed as 
more severe than others. He asked what penalties the County will impose on 
absentee homeowners. He concluded by saying that the County needed to be 
swift and significant in these actions. 
 
Chairwoman Mitchell asked if there was anyone else in the audience who would 
like to speak. Hearing none and seeing none, she closed the opportunity. 
 
Ms. Cooper announced the cancellation of the zoning ordinance work session after 
the meeting in hopes that commissioners and staff could get home safely in the 
winter weather. 
 
The Planning Commission along with staff decided to reschedule the work session 
to January 7, 2026, at 5:30pm. Dinner will be provided. 
 
There is a tentative work session scheduled for January 13, 2026, at the Planning 
Commission’s regularly scheduled public hearing time as there are no new 
applications to be heard in January. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 7:49pm. 







































The following is a Metes and Bounds Description of Tract 5C (26.1496 Acres), located in 

Gills Creek Magisterial District, as created in the plat recorded in the Clerks O�ice of 

Franklin County, Virginia in Instrument # 250000972. 

 

Beginning at a point being the Southwesterly property corner of Franklin County, Virginia 

Tax Parcel # 0300005211, Tract 11-A1-A1-A1 of Westlake Towne Center, the property of 

RUNK & PRATT OF SML, LLC as acquired in Deed Book 907, Page 1757 and being the 

common corner to the southeasterly property corner with the herein described Tract 5C 

and lying on the northerly property line of Tax Parcel # 0300005301, Parcel No. 2 of Deed 

Book 1208. Page 761, the property of OUT TO PASTURE, LLC as acquired in Deed Book 

1168, Page 1129 of the aforesaid Clerks O�ice for the POINT OF BEGINNING. 

Thence leaving the property of RUNK & PRATT OF SML, LLC and with the northerly property 

line of OUT TO PASTURE, LLC, S 89° 12’ 34” W, a distance of 669.84 feet to a point; 

Thence continuing with the northerly property line of Tax Parcel # 0300005301 the property 

of OUT TO PASTURE, LLC, S 89° 32’ 43” W, a distance of 34.00 feet to a point being the 

northwesterly property corner of Tax Parcel # 0300005301 and the northeasterly common 

property corner with Tax Parcel # 0300005300 the property of MICHAEL RAY NEAMO, MOSE 

KREATON NEAMO and ROBIN JANICE NEAMO as acquired in Deed Book 361, Page 1873 

and Deed Book 544, Page 1211; 

Thence leaving Tax Parcel # 0300005301 and with the northerly property line of Tax Parcel # 

0300005300 for the following four (4) courses: 

S 88° 05’ 42” W, a distance of 18.81 feet to a point; 

Thence S 80° 34’ 09” W, a distance of 345.07 feet to a point: 

Thence S 59° 48’ 26” W, a distance of 445.87 feet to a point; 

Thence N 25° 30’ 02” W, a distance of 83.48 feet to a point at the southeasterly property 

corner of Tax Parcel # 0300000105 the property of WILLARD INVESTMENT PROPERTIES, 

LLC as acquired in Deed Book 1166, Page 1629 of the said Clerks O�ice. 

Thence leaving Tax Parcel # 0300005300 and with the easterly property line of Tax Parcel # 

0300000105, N 33° 58’ 02” E, a distance of 2014.99 feet to a point being the common 

property corner of the herein described Tract 5C and Tract 5B both shown and created in 

Instrument # 250000972. 

Thence leaving Tax Parcel # 0300000105 and with the common property lines of Tracts 5C 

and 5B for the following four (4) courses: 



S 51° 47’ 44” E, a distance of 237.85 feet to a point; 

Thence N 58° 42’ 44” E, a distance of 239.52 feet to a point; 

Thence S 52° 37’ 53” E, a distance of 78.70 feet to a point; 

Thence S 01° 46’ 14” E, a distance of 264.51 feet to a point lying on the northerly property 

line of the said Tax Parcel # 0300005211 the property of RUNK & PRATT OF SML, LLC; 

Thence leaving Tract 5B and with the property of RUNK & PRATT OF SML, LLC for the 

following seven (7) courses: 

S 88° 13’ 46” W, a distance of 247.65 feet to a point; 

Thence S 29° 06’ 54” W, a distance of 210.83 feet to a point; 

Thence S 32° 37’ 03” E, a distance of 48.80 feet to a point; 

Thence S 02° 47’ 08” W, a distance of 267.13 feet to a point; 

Thence S 16° 47’ 46” E, a distance of 300.11 feet to a point; 

Thence S 42° 03’ 52” E, a distance of 182.28 feet to a point; 

Thence S 06° 56’ 13” E, a distance of 199.80 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING and 

containing 26.1496 Acres, 1,139,078 Square Feet more or less. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

X:\word\2024\24193\Description of Tract 5C.docx 



The following is a Metes and Bounds Description of Tract 6A-1 (56.31033 Acres), located in 

Gills Creek Magisterial District, as created in the plat recorded in the Clerks O�ice of 

Franklin County, Virginia in Deed Book 1204, Pages 568-569. 

Beginning at a point lying on the southerly right-of-way line of U. S. Route # 122, Booker T. 

Washington Highway (variable width right-of-way) and being the northeasterly property 

corner of Franklin County, Virginia Tax Parcel # 0300000105, Tract 6A-1, the herein 

described tract of land and being the property of WILLARD INVESTMENT PROPERTIES, LLC 

as acquired in Deed Book 1166, Page 1629 of the said Clerks O�ice and being the common 

corner to the northwesterly property corner with Tax Parcel # 0300005207B, Tract 19A-1B1 

also created in Deed Book 1204, Pages 568-569 being the property of KROGER LIMITED 

PARTNERSHIP I, as acquired in Deed Book 1209, Page 1949 of the said Clerks O�ice for the 

POINT OF BEGINNING. 

Thence leaving the southerly right-of-way line of U. S. Route # 122 and with the common 

property line between Parcels 6A-1 and 19A-1B1 for the following two (2) courses: 

S 10° 19’ 20” W, a distance of 236.90 feet to a point; 

Thence S 79° 33’ 29” E, a distance of 112.97 feet to a point being the northwesterly corner 

to Tax Parcel # 0300005226 and the 40’ wide private road designated Apron Road; 

Thence leaving Tax Parcel # 0300005207B, Tract 19A-1B1 and partially with the westerly 

property line of Tax Parcel # 0300005200 the property of WILLARD CONSTRUCTION OF 

SMITH MOUNTAIN LAKE, LLC as acquired in Deed Book 667, Page 367 and Deed Book 689, 

Page 160, S 35° 44’ 16” W, passing along the westerly property line of Tax Parcel # 

0300005225 the property of LAKESIDE IMPORTS & DISTRIBUTING, LLC as acquired in Deed 

Book 1018, Page 1759, and passing along the westerly property line of Tax Parcel # 

0300005227 the property of ABOONE DEVELOPMENT, INC. as acquired in Deed Book 1225, 

Page 546 and with the westerly property line of Tax Parcel # 0300005228 the property of 

WILLARD CONSTRUCTION OF SMITH MOUNTAIN LAKE, LLC as acquired in Deed Book 667, 

Page 367, all of the said Clerks O�ice for a total distance of 3,081.16 feet to a point at the 

southwesterly property corner of Tax Parcel # 0300005228 and lying on the northerly 

property line of Tax Parcel # 0300005300 the property of MICHAEL RAY NEAMO, MOSE 

KREATON NEAMO and ROBIN JANICE NEAMO as acquired in Deed Book 361, Page 1873 

and Deed Book 544, Page 1211; 

Thence leaving Tax Parcel # 0300005228 and with Tax Parcel # 0300005300 for the following 

two (2) courses: 

N 23° 43’ 56” W, a distance of 210.39 feet to a point; 



Thence S 78° 23’ 33” W, a distance of 53.49 feet to a point on the northerly property line of 

Tax Parcel # 0300005300, said point being the common property corner with Tax Parcel # 

0290002400 the property of the BOOKER T. WASHINGTON NATIONAL MONUMENT 

FOUNDATION as acquired in Deed Book 148, Page 427; 

Thence leaving Tax Parcel # 0300005300 and with Tax Parcel # 0290002400 for the following 

thirteen (13) courses: 

N 00° 58’ 09” W, a distance of 44.49 feet to a point; 

Thence N 20° 04’ 57” W, a distance of 43.46 feet to a point; 

Thence N 27° 44’ 17” W, a distance of 69.92 feet to a point; 

Thence N 20° 02’ 39” W, a distance of 95.64 feet to a point; 

Thence N 08° 11’ 27” W, a distance of 84.63 feet to a point; 

Thence N 49° 20’ 52” W, a distance of 38.81 feet to a point; 

Thence N 21° 32’ 38” W, a distance of 182.86 feet to a point; 

Thence N 11° 45’ 17” W, a distance of 55.52 feet to a point; 

Thence N 36° 22’ 59” W, a distance of 38.19 feet to a point; 

Thence N 18° 01’ 13” W, a distance of 184.72 feet to a point; 

Thence N 20° 54’ 11” W, a distance of 204.38 feet to a point; 

Thence N 78° 40’ 10” E, a distance of 612.36 feet to a point; 

Thence N 18° 24’ 28” E, a distance of 752.04 feet to a point at the southeasterly property 

corner of Tax Parcel # 0300000106 the property of The UNITED STATES OF AMERICA as 

acquired in Deed Book 803, Page 1427; 

Thence leaving Tax Parcel # 0290002400 and with Tax Parcel # 0300000106, N 33° 07’ 44” E, 

a distance of 1093.07 feet to a point lying on the southerly right-of-way line of U. S. Route 

122, Booker T. Washington Highway; 

Thence leaving Tax Parcel # 0300000106 and with the southerly right-of-way line of U. S. 

Route 122, S 79° 35’ 34” E, a distance of 799.59 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING and 

containing 56.31033 Acres, 2,452,878 Square Feet more or less. 

 

X:\word\2024\24193\Description of Tract 6A-1.docx 



 
 

 

 

4951 Lake Brook Drive  /  Suite 250  /  Glen Allen, VA 23060  /  T 804.362.0578 
 

goroveslade.com 
 

WESTLAKE TOWN CENTER 
TRIP GENERATION ANALYSIS 
 

To: Lisa Cooper Franklin County 

Cc: Court Rosen ABoone Real Estate, Inc. 

 Alexander Boone ABoone Real Estate, Inc. 

From: Carl Hultgren, P.E., PTOE 
 

Gorove Slade 

Date: December 31, 2025 

Subject: Westlake Town Center – Trip Generation Analysis 

 

ABoone Real Estate, Inc. is proposing a mixed-use development on the south side of Route 122 (Booker T. Washington 
Highway) across from Parkcrest Drive.  The proposed access plan includes one full-movement driveway on Route 122 aligned 
with Parkcrest Drive, one right-in / right-out driveway on Route 122, and connection to Apron Road to the east. 

The subject parcels are part of the overall Westlake Town Center mixed-use project, which is partially built-out.  The approved 
TIA for Westlake Town Center was submitted on November 21, 2014, which assumed the following land uses on the subject 
parcels: 

 54 single-family lots 
 140 multi-family units 
 Approximately 30,000 square feet (s.f.) of specialty retail space  (on the two 1.7 acre outparcels shown in Appendix A) 
 One 10,000 s.f. quality restaurant 
 One 4,000 s.f. fast-food restaurant with drive-through window 

 

ABoone Real Estate’s preliminary development plan includes the following assumed land uses: 

 103 single-family lots 
 12,500 s.f. of retail space 
 One 14,000 s.f. pharmacy with drive-through window 
 One 4,000 s.f. fast-food restaurant with drive-through window 

 

The proposed development plan requires a zoning map amendment and Special Use Permit (SUP), and the end users on the 
commercial outparcels are unknown at this time.  The end users listed above are for planning purposes only. 

  





Westlake Town Center – Trip Generation Analysis  
December 2025 
  

Page 3 

 

 

4951 Lake Brook Drive  /  Suite 250  /  Glen Allen, VA 23060  /  T 804.362.0578 
 

goroveslade.com 
 

The November 2014 TIA assumed that Phase 1 of the Westlake Town Center project would include 20,000 s.f. of specialty retail 
space, the 10,000 s.f. quality restaurant, and the 4,000 s.f. fast-food restaurant with drive-through window.  The following 
roadway improvements were recommended in the November 2014 TIA for the intersection of Route 122 at Parkcrest Drive with 
Phase 1 of the project: 

 Construct an eastbound right-turn lane on Route 122 with at least 100 feet of storage and a 100-foot taper 

 Construct a westbound left-turn lane on Route 122 with at least 300 feet of storage and a 100-foot taper 

 Construct an eastbound left-turn lane on Route 122 with 100 feet of storage and a 100-foot taper 

 Install a traffic signal, which will be coordinated with the existing traffic signal on Route 122 at Scruggs Road 

 

Conclusions 
The preliminary development plan generates approximately 10% fewer daily trips, 6% more AM peak hour trips, and 3% more 
PM peak hour trips as the development plan that was assumed in the November 2014 TIA. 

The traffic capacity analysis in the November 2014 TIA was based on the AM and PM peak hour traffic volumes, therefore, the 
conclusions and recommendations in the November 2014 TIA listed above are still valid with the proposed development plan. 

















































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































 
   

 

   
     
    

  

          

     

              
          

           
        

             
           

              
            

           
   

              

            
      

            
       

        

 
    

   
 

 

  
 



 
  

     

    

 
 

   

     

  
  

 

         
        

             

     

      
 






































































